Public Document Pack

CABINET

Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 4 October 2021 at the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 10.00 am

Committee

Members Present:

Mrs W Fredericks Mrs S Bütikofer (Chair)

Mrs A Fitch-Tillett Ms V Gay
Mr R Kershaw Mr E Seward

Miss L Shires

Members also attending:

Mr A Brown Mr C Cushing Dr V Holliday Mr J Rest

Ms L Withington

Officers in Attendance:

Chief Executive and Democratic Services Manager, Chief Technical

Accountant, Director of Communities, Director of Resources

Apologies for Absence:

Mr N Lloyd Mr J Tove

138 MINUTES

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6th September 2021 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

139 PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS

None received.

140 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr L Shires declared a non-pecuniary interest in Agenda item 7: 'Small Growth Villages Update' as the local member for Happisburgh.

Cllr A Fitch-Tillett declared a non-pecuniary interest in Agenda item 7 – Local Site allocations, Cromer. She said that she knew the landowner for the second site but was not a close acquaintance.

141 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

There was one item of urgent business: 'Business Rates Pooling 2022/2023'

The Leader explained that this had come forward as an urgent item because the Council needed to indicate by 8th October whether it wished to pool jointly for business rates arrangements with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk District

Councils for the 2022/23 financial year. She invited the Director of Resources to outline the proposals. He said that it had been agreed, collectively, not to pool for the previous year due to the perceived levels of risk and uncertainty which included potential government reviews and the unknown impact of Brexit. However, following discussion at Norfolk Leaders' Group on 23rd September the consensus was that reestablishing the pool would be beneficial subject to consideration of the individual assessment of business rate projections. He added that it should be noted that, as with previous years, not all districts would need to join the pool for it to be established. He concluded by saying that there was a caveat in the recommendations that joining the pool was dependent on the figures projected by the other authorities.

Cllr C Cushing said that the report indicated that the pooling arrangement had been beneficial in previous years and he asked for more detail on this. The Director of Resources replied that it amounted to approximately £0.5m to NNDC and £10m countywide.

Cllr J Rest referred to page 4 of the report and the reference to Norwich City Council being above the safety net threshold. He asked for more information on this. The Chief Technical Accountant explained that it referred to how much growth there was above the baseline level set by the Government. The safety net was set at 92.5% of the business rates baseline and if any authority fell below this then level then the Pool would have to 'top' it up. Norwich City had had no growth above the business rates baseline and not been able to contribute any levy but they had not been in a safety net position, so no contribution from the pool had been required.

It was proposed by Cllr E Seward, seconded by Cllr R Kershaw and

RESOLVED that

- North Norfolk re-joins the business rates pooling arrangement with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk district Councils subject to the financial forecasts demonstrating this would result in additional growth being retained;
- 2) That the power be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Chief Finance Officer to agree the detailed pooling and governance arrangements for the pool with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk Districts.

Reason for the decision:

To maximise the amount of additional business rates income that is retained in Norfolk and invested in Norfolk

142 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS

143 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM PLANNING POLICY & BUILT HERITAGE WORKING PARTY

In the absence of Cllr Toye, Portfolio Holder for Planning, the Leader invited Cllr A Brown, Chairman of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party, to introduce this item. Cllr Brown said that the site allocations for Cromer were the final phase of the site allocations and approval would enable the Working Party to move to the next stage of the Plan – Regulation 19.

It was proposed by Cllr S Butikofer, seconded by Cllr R Kershaw and

RESOLVED:

Small Growth Villages:

To reverse the decision to remove Happisburgh from the list of Small Growth Villages and to authorise the Planning Policy Manager (in consultation with the Chairman of the Working Party and the Local Member) to make the final decision on the status of Happisburgh, having regard to the circumstances at the time.

Local Plan Site Allocations Cromer:

That land west of Cromer adjacent to Norwich Road is included in the Reg19 Local Plan as an allocation for approximately 400 dwellings, sports pitches, elderly persons' accommodation, open space and supporting infrastructure and that development of the site accords with a single comprehensive master plan and phasing agreement.

That land at Clifton Park is **not** allocated in the Reg19 Plan.

144 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

In the absence of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Leader informed members that there were no recommendations from the committee to Cabinet.

145 DETERMINATION OF COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS 2022/23

The Portfolio Holder for Finance & Assets, Cllr E Seward, introduced this item. He explained that this was an annual report that would go to Full Council for final approval. He said that there was a small change this year, with the introduction of a new hardship relief fund under Section 13A powers. It would be funded by the District Council but as there had only previously been a couple of cases a year it was not anticipated to be financially burdensome.

The Leader commented that it was very disappointing that the regulations did not allow the Council to further increase the tax on empty properties.

It was proposed by Cllr Seward, seconded by Cllr S Butikofer and

Resolved to recommend to Full Council:

that Full Council shall resolve that under section 11A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, and in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and other enabling powers one of the following applies:

Recommendation 1

- (a) The discounts for the year 2022/23 and beyond are set at the levels indicated in the table at paragraph 2.1.
- (b) The premium for long term empty properties (those that have been empty for a consecutive period longer than 24 months) is set at 100% of the Council Tax charge for that dwelling

- (c) The premium for long term empty properties (those that have been empty for a consecutive period longer than 60 months) is set at 200% of the Council Tax charge for that dwelling
- (d) The premium for long term empty properties (those that have been empty for a consecutive period longer than 120 months) is set at 300% of the Council Tax charge for that dwelling
- (e) To award a Council Tax Hardship Discount of 100% as per the policy attached at Appendix B, under the provisions section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended)
- (f) To continue to award a local discount of 100% for eligible cases of care leavers under section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended).
- (g) That an exception to the levy charges may be made by the Section 151 Officer in conjunction with the Portfolio holder for Finance, on advice of the Revenues Manager in the circumstances laid out in section 3.6 of this report.

Recommendation 2

- (a) those dwellings that are specifically identified under regulation 6 of the Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings)(England) Regulations 2003 will retain the 50% discount and:
- (b) those dwellings described or geographically defined at Appendix A which in the reasonable opinion of the Head of Finance and Asset Management are judged not to be structurally capable of occupation all year round and were built before the restrictions of seasonal usage were introduced by the Town and Country Planning Act 1947, will be entitled to a 35% discount.

Reasons for the decision:

To set appropriate council tax discounts which will apply in 2022/23 in accordance with the legal requirements and to raise additional council tax revenue.

146 DRAFT PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 2021 - 2025

The Portfolio Holder for Finance & Assets, Cllr Seward, introduced this item. He explained that the previous strategy had been reviewed and updated in light of Covid 19 and to reflect the Corporate Plan priorities. He referred Members to paragraph 8.2 of the report which outlined the Council's promotion of environmental excellence and innovation in the context of combatting climate change to help minimise environmental impact.

Cllr J Rest, Chairman of the Governance, Risk & Audit Committee, said that the strategy had been considered by the Committee at their meeting on 18th September and it was supported, with no proposed amendments.

Cllr A Fitch-Tillett commented that she would like to have seen a stronger emphasis on attracting apprenticeships. Cllr R Kershaw, Portfolio Holder for Sustainable Growth agreed but said that there was ongoing work in this area with the Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) Fund which was developing and strengthening support for apprenticeships.

It was proposed by Cllr E Seward, seconded by Cllr R Kershaw and

RESOLVED

To approve the Procurement Strategy 2021 - 2025

147 CUSTOMER SERVICES STRATEGY

Cllr L Shires, Portfolio Holder for Organisational Resources, introduced this item. She explained that it was a strategy for customer service across the Council – not just the Customer Services team. She drew Members' attention to Customer Service week which was being celebrated across the Council.

Cllr J Rest referred to Appendix 2, 'Customer Charter and Standards' and the heading 'if you telephone us'. He asked the Portfolio Holder for the reasons behind setting 2 minutes, 30 seconds as the allocated time to respond to a call. He said that this seemed particularly long compared to other companies, where 3 – 5 rings was the standard length of time. Cllr Shires said that it was important to set the context and understand the customer journey. It took two minutes just to get through the options menu. The focus was on prioritising customers to get the response they needed first time. She said this was more important than answering quickly and then re-directing. She added that she was comfortable with the current response target as it would reduce over time.

Cllr C Cushing said that he could not see any targets for reducing the number of dropped calls. He said that he had advised that the current figure was 20% and had hoped to see action to address this. Cllr Shires replied that the Council received an average of 278 calls a day, with 14 being unanswered. She said that there were a variety of reasons for this – including the customer hanging up through choice because they had found an alternative. She said that work was being undertaken on informing people where they were in the queue and providing the option of leaving a voicemail service to leave a message. Cllr Cushing said that the figure provided by Cllr Shires indicated that only 5% of calls were dropped. He asked why he had been previously informed that it was 20%. Cllr Shires said that the higher figure represented calls received across the wider organisation, not just Customer Services, adding that when calls were transferred between handlers it was counted as a dropped call. The Leader said that the metrics that had been used were not the best – any calls that went to voicemail were also counted as 'dropped'.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr R Kershaw and

RESOLVED

To adopt the Customer Service Strategy

Reason for the decision:

To ensure a high standard of customer service is provided across the organisation.

148 PEOPLE SERVICES RESTRUCTURE

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Benefits, Cllr Fredericks, introduced this item. She said that following the creation of a new 'People Services' directorate, the Assistant Director had identified a number of challenges and opportunities for the service and had proposed changes to the structure, including additional posts, to

provide capacity to deliver an enhanced service in support of the Corporate Plan objectives and to maximise opportunities to lever in external funding and income. She thanked the officers for their hard work in preparing the report.

Cllr Gay, seconded the proposals, saying that the report provided a clear portrait on what would happen and how it would benefit residents.

Cllr C Cushing said that it was proposed to allocate £0.5m into management roles when the focus should be on streamlining and creating efficiency. He said that this was the wrong direction and asked the Portfolio Holder how it could be justified. Cllr Fredericks replied that it was being funded from money that was already held in reserves. The service area in question dealt with the general public on a daily basis and requests for support had increased considerably during the pandemic. The proposed structure sought to address this growth in demand and provide help more quickly.

The Assistant Director for People Services said that the majority of funding for the service came from Government and the proposal set out how it could be spent in the most effective way by bringing several services together. The focus now would be on prevention rather than crisis management.

Cllr E Withington said that she was supportive of the proposals.

Cllr V Gay referred to paragraphs 1.9 and 1.10 which set out how the proposals would enable the Council to attract additional funding and generate income.

Cllr Cushing asked whether performance targets would be put in place to measure the benefit of the money spent on salaries for the new posts. The Assistant Director for People Services replied that targets were set for key areas such as preventing homelessness, reducing the number of people in temporary accommodation and ensuring that homeless people could be housed in the District rather than beyond. She added that it was hard to put metrics against social benefits but the focus was on quality and helping those facing complex situations.

Cllr J Rest asked whether it was possible to provide information on how many people were currently being assisted with all of these services and how many more would be helped with an increase in staff and funding. The Assistant Director for People Services replied that such figures were reported on a monthly basis in meetings with the Portfolio Holder and via the Council's performance management system.

The Deputy Leader, Cllr Seward, said that paragraph 3.2 set out how success would be measured and this had been requested by Cabinet. He said that the service was currently struggling to deal with a rise in homelessness and not being able to process Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) promptly. He added that currently, too much of managers' time was being spent on casework.

The Leader said that the Administration took their responsibilities towards residents very seriously.

It was proposed by Cllr W Fredericks, seconded by Cllr V Gay and

RESOLVED

To agree the use of uncommitted fee income and reserves to fund the proposed

additional posts within for the revised 'People Services' service grouping and to earmark the uncommitted fee income and the required level of reserves to support the funding of the structure for the next 2 years.

Reasons for the decision:

To provide capacity to deliver an enhanced service in support of the Corporate Plan objectives and maximise the opportunities to lever in external funding and income to expand the offering further

149 USE OF HOUSING RESERVES TO ENHANCE DELIVERY

Cllr W Fredericks, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Benefits, introduced this item. She explained that the report provided information on the proposed use of housing reserves, currently totalling £2.516m. The report sets out plans and commitments already in place to use some of the funding, i.e. continuing to fund the Community Enabler post and ensuring some grant funding remains for community-led housing as well as recommending that funding is used to support a dedicated energy officer role to help deliver many of the energy efficiency projects included in the agreed Housing Strategy. It also highlighted proposals for maintaining and strengthening staffing resources in Peoples Services, which had been discussed earlier in the agenda.

Cllr Fredericks welcomed the creation of a dedicated energy officer post, particularly with the challenges currently being faced in the energy sector and she hoped that they would be able to work with residents to provide support and advice. She then drew attention to the proposals to convert some shared ownership to 'affordable rent' homes as this was where the greatest demand was. It was hoped that 8 homes could be converted under the proposals. Cllr Fredericks concluded by saying that she also welcomed the proposals to introduce a rent guarantee scheme. This would help those struggling to rent homes in the already fragile private rented sector. If the Council was able to act as a guarantor for possible tenants then the initial hurdle of getting into accommodation would be much easier to overcome. She thanked the officers for their hard work in preparing the report.

Cllr J Rest referred to page 132, section 2.11, which set out the details for the creation of an Energy Officer post. He asked who they would report to. Cllr Fredericks said that it would be the relevant Assistant Director.

Cllr Cushing said that the use of the phrase 'we anticipate' sounded hopeful rather than a firm ambition. Cllr Fredericks replied that it should be 'we intend'.

It was proposed by Cllr Fredericks, seconded by Cllr Shires and

RESOLVED

That Cabinet support the recommended uses of the £2.516 of housing reserves to fund the continuation of posts and restructure of Peoples Services, continuation of community-led housing activity and an energy officer role (as set out in paragraphs 2.1 - 2.11)

That Cabinet support use of the remaining £890,246 of reserves to accelerate housing delivery (as set out in paragraphs 2.12 - 2.25), including the purchase of two further units of temporary accommodation for homeless households.

That Cabinet gives delegated authority to a Chief Officer, in consultation with the

Portfolio Holder for Housing & Benefits, for the purchase of the specific properties within the overall re-allocated budget of £640,000 (with all purchases subject to an independent valuation and survey).

Reasons for the decision:

To provide authority for expenditure over £100,000

150 NORTH NORFOLK ARMED FORCES COVENANT PLEDGE

Cllr V Gay introduced this item in the absence of Cllr Toye who was the Member Champion for the Armed Forces. She explained that the Council had signed the Armed Forces Covenant on 7th March 2012 and that legislation would soon be introduced to increase awareness of and improve the delivery of the Covenant in key areas fundamental to a good life, whilst retaining the ability of local service providers to honour the Covenant in the best way to suit local needs. Cllr Gay said that to further demonstrate North Norfolk District Council's commitment to the Armed Forces Covenant and to ensure compliance with the forthcoming legislation, it was proposed that the Council published and signed its own Armed Forces Covenant Pledge. The pledge would include a commitment to achieve the Bronze, Silver and Gold Defence Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) awards

It was proposed by Cllr V Gay, seconded by Cllr A Fitch-Tillett and

RESOLVED:

To give authority to the Armed Forces Member Champion and Lead Officer to write a North Norfolk Armed Forces pledge in accordance with this report and ensure actions are implemented within an agreed timescale.

The pledge to be formally signed by the Leader of the Council.

Reasons for the decision:

The pledge will identify specific actions that NNDC will take as an employer and community leader to support members of the Armed Forces Community and achieve the criteria for the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) Bronze, Silver and Gold awards.

To ensure that NNDC is able to meet the forthcoming Armed Forces Covenant legislative Duty of Due regard.

151 ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Before closing the meeting, the Leader said that she wanted to congratulate all of the officers involved in winning the award for Digital Finance Project of the Year 2021 at the Public Finance Awards. She said she was delighted to the see all of the teams involved – including Economic Growth, Finance, Revenues and Customer Services, being recognised for their outstanding work and performance in the issuing of Covid 19 business grants and support for local businesses affected by the pandemic. She concluded by saying that it was a fantastic example of departments working out of their silos across the organisation, and showed what could be achieved when teams worked collaboratively

152 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

153 PRIVATE BUSINESS

The meeting ended at 10.45 am.		
		Chairman



BUSINESS RATES POOLING 2022/23

Summary This report reviews the potential for re-establishing the

business rates pooling arrangements for Norfolk and for North Norfolk District Council to pool jointly with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk district councils for the 2022/23 financial year. The report considers the financial advantages to the Norfolk council tax payer and the

potential risks to the councils involved.

Options considered To join a County wide business rates pool in 2022/23 or not.

Conclusions Re-establishment of business rates pooling arrangements

has the potential to achieve financial benefits for Norfolk through increased retention of business rates generated

locally that can then be re-invested in Norfolk.

Recommendations It is recommended that Cabinet be asked to resolve that:

 North Norfolk re-joins the business rates pooling arrangement with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk district Councils subject to the financial forecasts demonstrating this would result in additional growth being retained;

2) That the power be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Chief Finance Officer to agree the detailed pooling and governance arrangements for the pool with Norfolk County Council and other Norfolk Districts.

Reasons for Recommendations

To maximise the amount of additional business rates income that is retained in Norfolk and invested in Norfolk.

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW

(Papers relied on the write the report and which do not contain exempt information)

Norfolk Leaders Group Report on Business Rates Pooling

Cabinet Member(s)	Ward(s) affected			
Cllr Eric Seward	All			
Contact Officer, telephone number and email:				
Duncan Ellis, 01263 516300, <u>Duncan.ellis@north-norfolk.gov.uk</u>				

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a number of changes to the funding system for local government, with funding from April 2013, via a mix of locally retained business rates and government grants that are allocated from centrally retained business rates which continues today.

- 1.2 Previously business rates were collected locally and pooled centrally for reallocation by the redistribution of business rates through formula funding. The intention of the updated business rates retention scheme was to provide incentives for local authorities to increase economic growth, through retention of a share of revenue generated from locally collected business rates. The current system uses a mechanism of 'levy' and 'safety net' for authorities that experience disproportionate and negative growth respectively.
- 1.3 While there has been ongoing discussion now for a number of years about a further review of this system this has still not been completed and the timescales for this are currently unclear.
- 1.4 In order to provide opportunities for the same incentives across all areas, the Government included arrangements within the updated funding scheme for councils to be allowed to pool business rate resources where it makes local economic sense to do so. Providing a county council is part of a pooling arrangement, the creation of a pool within a two tier area can reduce or remove the levy on business rates growth paid to the Government by billing authorities. This enables more business rates growth to be retained locally and used as agreed by the authorities within the pool.
- 1.5 Members will recall that the Council has been part of pooling arrangements in previous years and both NNDC and the wider county have benefited from these arrangements. In 2021/22 the County Council and the districts took the decision not to pool and dissolved the pooling arrangements due to the perceived levels of risk and uncertainty which included potential government reviews and the unknown impact of Brexit. A further and potentially more significant issue revolved around the uncertainty of the continuation of the expanded retail discount, which would have potentially put all the Councils several millions of pounds into a safety net position if it had not been continued.
- 1.6 Following discussion at Norfolk Leaders' Group on 23rd September the consensus was that re-establishing the pool would be beneficial subject to consideration of the individual assessment of business rate projections. It should be noted that, as with previous years, not all districts would need to join the pool for it to be established.
- 1.7 The aim of the pool is to help support the economic growth strategy through the potential to use additional retained business rates to provide funding for joint projects, including key infrastructure and provide a pathway for future pooling arrangements with authorities across the county. Governance arrangements were agreed by Councils for the previous arrangements and included provision for dissolving and reforming a new pool, should other councils wish to pool business rates in future years. It is anticipated that the previous governance agreement could be used again but this will be subject to review and updating as required.
- 1.8 In two tier areas such as Norfolk the upper tier authority, in this case Norfolk County Council, will normally receive a top up from government and the district authorities will normally pay a tariff (levy) to government. The levy rate for any increase in business rates growth over and above the baseline funding level, adjusted for inflation for all Norfolk District authorities is 50%.
- 1.9 The effect of pooling is that the levy rate will be reduced or eliminated completely. However, there are also financial risks associated with pooling. Some local authorities may find that a reduction in their local business rates income which would have qualified for a safety net payment (where business

rates income falls by more than $7 \frac{1}{2}$ % below the baseline funding position) if they are part of a pool, will no longer qualify where the overall pool is above its combined safety net threshold.

1.10 Clearly it is not possible to predict with certainty some five months before the start of a financial year the outturn position for the forthcoming period.

2. Proposed Pooling Arrangements 2022/23

- 2.1 The Government has recently issued a prospectus for business rates pools for 2022/23, with a requirement for notification of pool membership by 8th October 2021. It will not be possible to the membership arrangements after this date.
- 2.2 It is possible to provisionally provide a draft Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) in principle, and then a revised (final) MoU would be required by end of October. Confirmation would be needed from all Local Authorities in the pool that they are content with being members of the pool alongside accepting the risk that the draft MoU holds if a revised one cannot be sent in due course. The draft MoU is included within Appendix A.
- 2.3 As in previous years, following the publication of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, there is a 28-day period in which any Local Authority that is part of a pool can inform Government they wish to revoke their pooling arrangement. The pool will then be revoked and none of the authorities in the revoked pool will be able to pool in 2022-23.
- 2.4 In terms of the governance and retained levy split options the principles around the MoU are broadly as follows;
 - As per the default MoU position from Government, to allocate 50% to Districts based on growth and 50% to County;
 - As per the original pool governance agreement, to establish a Joint Investment Fund:
 - As per the 2020-21 approach, to allocate 1/10th per District and 3/10ths to County;
 - Potentially an alternative basis which Leaders wish to propose to Government.
- 2.5 It should be noted that the share of risk will also differ according to whichever option is adopted.

3. Options for Pooling

- 3.1 There are essentially two options available, either to join a pooling arrangement with Norfolk County Council and other interested Norfolk districts or not to pool.
- 3.2 A county council can only be part of one pool. Therefore, decisions affecting pooling in 2022/23 will need to be made collectively.
- 3.3 Work is currently ongoing to establish if, in overall terms, there would potentially appear to be financial benefits across Norfolk from re-establishing the previous pooling arrangements for 2022/23.
- 3.4 The **provisional figures** below for the last pooling arrangements (2020/21) indicate the pool has been successful in generating a saved levy of £6.747m across the county.

Local Authority	Outturn saved levy 2020-21	Provisional share of 2020-21 Pool
Breckland District Council	£0.905m	£0.675m
Broadland District Council	£0.827m	£0.675m
Great Yarmouth Borough Council	£0.542m	£0.675m
Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk	£2.036m	£0.675m
North Norfolk District Council	£1.201m	£0.675m
Norwich City Council	£0.000m*	£0.675m
South Norfolk District Council	£1.235m	£0.675m
Norfolk County Council	n/a	£2.024m
Pool total	£6.747m	£6.747m

^{*} Norwich City Council is above safety-net threshold

- 3.5 Although the details have yet to be agreed, the model endorsed by the Norfolk Leaders is that the arrangement is established whereby the business rates are pooled for the purpose of the Government calculation of tariffs, top up and levy payments but in practice only the sum "saved" in levy payments is actually pooled for joint decision making, as per the previous arrangements.
- 3.6 In order to reduce the risk to participating councils of the unanticipated loss of one or more major business rate payers in individual districts it would be prudent for the Norfolk pool to replicate the safety net support which the individual participating districts would lose access to, as a first call on the pooled payments. This is in line with previous arrangements.

4. Governance Arrangements

- 4.1 If a pool is to be established it will be important to be clear about the governance arrangements for the investment decisions with respect to the pooled funds.
- 4.2 The table below shows the current proposals and how these compare with previous arrangements.

	Template MoU for 2022-23	Approach to 2020- 21 pool agreed by Leaders (May 2021)	Prior to 2020-21
District	50% of the net retained levy (gain) split among the Pool's remaining authorities based on business rates growth. This will be achieved by splitting the remaining 50% in proportion to the actual levy payment of the councils, had they acted individually.	1/10 per District	Joint investment fund open for bids
County	50% of the net retained levy (gain) will be allocated to the Pool's top up authorities	3/10	

- 4.3 The overarching principles in terms of the use of any saved levy remain is broadly as follows;
 - The rationale for the Pool is to encourage economic growth therefore Pool Members are encouraged to use the additional resource to promote further economic growth.

5. Financial Implications and Risks

- 5.1 There is a risk that a major business could close in the district leading to a reduction rather than an increase in the amount of business rates collected. This is still a risk to the Council whether it is in a business rates pool or not.
- 5.2 Outside of the pooling arrangement, if the business rates income for an authority falls by more than 7.5% below the baseline funding position they will qualify for a safety net payment which will provide some mitigation from reduced business rates.
- 5.3 Similarly, within a pool arrangement if the business rates income for an authority falls this reduces the amount available for investment in the business rates pool. It is possible that this could lead to a reduction below the business rates safety net level of business rates baseline, i.e. the level that would have received a payment from the government. This will however be mitigated by replicating the "safety net" provisions available to authorities outside business rate pooling arrangements as a first call on surpluses generated within the pool.
- 5.4 As outlined above at present the forecasts are being pulled together by each individual District across the County, once these have been established an informed decision can be reached regarding the potential benefit of new pooling arrangements.

6. Sustainability

6.1 None as a direct consequence from this report.

7. Equality and Diversity

7.1 This report does not raise any equality and diversity issues.

8. Section 17 Crime and Disorder considerations

8.1 This report does not raise any Crime and Disorder considerations.

Named Local Authority(ies) area Business Rate Pool 20xx/xx

Memorandum of Understanding

This Memorandum of Understanding is made between the following councils

- ## County Council
- London Borough of ##
- ## Borough Council
- ## District Council

(Together referred to as the 'Pool' or 'Pool Members').

1. Purpose

- 1.1. The main aim of the pool is to maximise the retention of locally generated business rates and to ensure that it further supports the economic regeneration of the wider specified area or named local authority area. The modelling work that has been undertaken by the Pool demonstrates that financially the named local authority would retain a greater share of business rates revenue through pooling than it would otherwise do, as long as it experiences economic growth. This will act as a further incentive for all the pooling authorities to proactively work together to drive economic growth within [specific centralised Areas at county or district level].
- 1.2. It is the purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding to act as a statement of intent that will support the realisation of these benefits. The Pool Members have agreed to enter into this Memorandum of Understanding to formalise their commitment and to set out their respective roles and responsibilities from the 20xx/xx financial year.

2. Glossary of Key Terms

2.1. There are a number of technical terms used throughout this document. The meanings of these terms are as follows:

Levy

A formulaic mechanism to pay a percentage of additionally raised local business rates income over to central government when a target (set nationally for each billing authority) has been exceeded.

Pool

A voluntary arrangement amongst a group of local authorities to pool the business rates generated locally to ensure at least some of any levy is retained locally.

Net Retained Levy

The amount of levy retained locally. This is calculated as the sum of levies to be paid by individual Pool members if the Pool did not exist less the levy to be paid by the Pool less any safety net funding that would have been due to individual Pool members if the Pool did not exist and less the administrative costs of the Pool.

Safety Net

The additional funding received by an authority, from central government, if, in the government's opinion, the decline in business rates in any year would leave an authority with insufficient resources. Calculated using a national formula.

Lead Authority

The Pool member who will act as the lead in managing the Pool's resources and being the key contact between central government and the Pool

Schedule of Payments

The Lead Authority will prepare an annual schedule that reflects all the financial payments to be processed through the pool, clearly indicating the amount and timings of each payment and who needs to make what and payment to whom.

3. Key Principles

3.1. The Pool Members agree that they will operate the Pool in accordance with the following principles:

Increase in Resources

The Pool Members recognise that the fundamental objective of the Pool is to generate increased resources for the area, and individual Pool Members

Risk Management

The Pool Members agree to protect and mitigate as far as possible the risks associated with the level of business rate income. Income streams to the Pool Members may be more volatile, whether as the result of a one-off event (for example a successful large appeal) or something structural within an area (for example the closure of a major plant). The pooling arrangements should reduce this volatility.

Fairness

The Pool Members agree to share the costs, risks and benefits of local business rate retention proportionately. Pool Members should be no worse off than if they were outside the Pool.

Transparency, Openness and Honesty

Pool Members will be open and trusting in their dealings with each other, make information and analysis available to each other, discuss and develop ideas openly and contribute fully to all aspects of making the Pool successful. It also includes

sharing data and intelligence outside of the formal reporting mechanisms on any substantive issues relating to business rate retention within their area.

Reasonableness of Decision-Making

Pool Members agree that all decisions made in relation to this Memorandum of Understanding shall be made by them acting reasonably and in good faith.

4. Binding Memorandum

- 4.1. This Memorandum of Understanding is produced as a Statement of Intent and, with the exception of Sections 5, 10 and 11, is not intended to be legally binding.
- 4.2. Sections 5, 10 and 11 are intended to be legally binding and to create obligations between Pool Members with immediate effect from the execution of this Memorandum of Understanding.
- 4.3. Pool Members have approved this Memorandum of Understanding in advance of the Secretary of State designating the Pool for the purposes of the Business Rates Retention Scheme. If the Secretary of State adds conditions to the designation, either initially or at any point in the future an immediate review of this Memorandum of Understanding, as outlined in Section 12, will be triggered.

5. Term of Memorandum

- 5.1. This Memorandum of Understanding shall continue to be in place unless terminated in accordance with these terms.
- 5.2. Any Pool Member can leave the Pool from 1 April of the following financial year providing:
 - Written notice is given to other Pool Members and MHCLG in at least sufficient time for the Pool to apply to continue for the remaining Pool Members, should they wish it to continue. Sufficient time is taken to be at least the time specified by MHCLG in regulations and/or guidance.
 - All liabilities to and from the Pool are paid.

6. Decision-Making

- 6.1. The statutory finance officers (Chief Finance Officer) from each Pool Member shall collectively be responsible for overseeing the operation of the Pool and making recommendations to their respective authorities about the way forward.
- 6.2. The Lead Authority shall ensure that reports are sent to the Chief Finance Officer of each Pool Member at least on a quarterly basis updating them of the performance of the Pool and advising them of any issues. These reports should be available within four weeks of the quarter end.
- 6.3. The Lead Authority is able to appoint external support in order to assist with the undertaking of its responsibilities (as per section 9 below) on behalf of the pool. The

- costs incurred by the lead authority will be shared across the group, as outlined in section 11 below.
- 6.4. For the avoidance of doubt, any substantive decision e.g. commitment of resources, changes in governance or major operational changes shall be referred to each Pool Members' decision-making regime.

7. Dispute Resolution

7.1. The Pool Members shall attempt in good faith to negotiate a settlement to any dispute arising between them arising out of or in connection to this Memorandum of Understanding. If this cannot be resolved by the Chief Finance Officers it will be referred to a meeting of all member authorities' Heads of Paid Service for resolution.

8. Resourcing

- 8.1. Each Pool Member will provide the appropriate resources and will act with integrity and consistency to support the intention set out in this Memorandum of Understanding.
- 8.2. In the event that the Lead Authority needs to incur additional expenditure in order to administer the pool, any reasonable costs agreed by pool members should be the first call on the Net Retained Levy.

9. Lead Authority

- 9.1. Named Local Authority will act as the Lead Authority for the Pool.
- 9.2. The responsibilities of the Lead Authority are:
 - to make payments on behalf of the Pool to central government and Pool Members on time and in accordance with the schedule of payments,
 - to liaise with and complete all formal Pool returns to central government on behalf of Pool Members,
 - to keep Pool Members informed of all communications with central government,
 - to manage the resources of the Pool in accordance with this MoU,
 - to prepare quarterly reports and consolidate intelligence on future resource levels on behalf of the Pool.
 - to convene an urgent meeting of the Chief Finance Officers if there is the possibility that the pool could make a loss.
 - to prepare the annual report of the Pool's activity,
 - to co-ordinate the annual review and refresh of the Pool's governance arrangements and the methodology for the allocation of resources,
 - to consult on and administer a schedule of all payments in respect of all financial transactions that form part of the Pool's resources, and

- to lead on the timely provision of the information required, by Pool Members, in preparing their annual Statement of Accounts in relation to the activities and resources of the Pool.
- 9.3. To assist the Lead Authority in fulfilling this role, the responsibilities of individual Pool Members are:
 - to make payments on time and in accordance with the schedule of payments,
 - to provide accurate, timely information to the Lead Authority to enable all formal Pool returns to central government to be completed,
 - to inform the Lead Authority, as soon as is practical, of any intelligence that may impact on the resources of the Pool either in the current year or in future years,
 - to provide such information as the Chief Finance Officers agree is reasonable and necessary to monitor/forecast the Pool's resources within the timescales agreed,
 - to provide such information as the Chief Finance Officers agree is reasonable and necessary on the use of the Pool's resources for inclusion in the Pool's annual report, and
 - to provide accurate and timely information on the end of year financial performance of the business rates collection fund to enable the Lead Authority to calculate the end of year accounting entries needed.

10. Cash Management

- 10.1. The governing principle for the cash management of the Pool is that no individual Pool Member, including the Lead Authority, should incur a cash flow gain or loss as a result of the transfer of funds between Pool Members.
- 10.2. The Pool will receive/pay interest annually on any retained resource at the average investment rate of the Lead Authority.
- 10.3. Interest will be calculated on an annual basis and allocated to Pool Members based upon a method agreed by the Chief Finance Officers.
- 10.4. Where the Pool is required to make a payment to the Secretary of State, each authority in the Pool is jointly and severally liable to make that payment.
- 10.5. Any late payment may be subject to a late payment interest charge at base rate plus 4%.

11. Allocation of Pool Resources

Principles

- 11.1. The allocation of resources will be based on the following principles.
 - Each individual authority, will receive at least the same level of funding they would have received without the Pool. The remaining amount will be the "Net Retained Levy".

- Any additional resource that is generated will be shared by pool members using the basis of allocation below. This allocation methodology looks to reward members of the pool for achieving business rate growth.
- The rationale for the Pool is to encourage economic growth therefore Pool Members are encouraged to use the additional resource to promote further economic growth.

Basis of Allocation

- 11.2. The underlying basis of allocation is as follows:
 - A The running costs of the pool, if any, will be initially paid by the lead authority and will be re-imbursed to them from the Net Retained Levy.
 - B If after A, the net retained levy is greater than £0 (i.e. the pool has made an overall gain), then it will be shared out using the following apportionments.
 - i) 50% of the net retained levy (gain) will be allocated to the Pool's top up authorities Named local Authority(ies) and will be allocated between these councils in proportion to the top ups received from MHCLG in 20xx/xx.
 - ii) The remaining 50% gain will be split among the Pool's remaining authorities based on business rates growth. This will be achieved by splitting the remaining 50% in proportion to the actual levy payment of the councils, had they acted individually.
 - C Where the Net Retained Levy is less than £0, (i.e. where the Pool makes an overall loss) the loss will be shared in the following proportions:
 - 50% of the net retained levy (loss) will be allocated to named Local Authority (and other named Local Authorities, if applicable) and will be shared between these councils in proportion to the top ups received from MHCLG in 20xx/xx.
 - ii) The remaining 50% loss will be split among the Pool's remaining authorities based on business rates growth. This will be achieved by splitting the remaining 50% in proportion to the cash amount that would have been received from MHCLG as part of the annual Settlement, as if the Pool arrangement was not in operation.

12. Review Arrangements

12.1. A review and refresh of the Pool's governance arrangements and the methodology for the allocation of resources will be undertaken on an annual basis. It will be coordinated by the Lead Authority on behalf of the Chief Finance Officers and in sufficient time for any changes in Pool Membership to be in place before the start of the following financial year.

13. Signatories on behalf of the Pool – [SIGNED BY ALL AUTHORITIES with electronic signatures]

Р

Official 1 Official 2

Authority 1 Authority 2 (and so on)